








ALUMNI MEDAL AWARDS

Presented by
Gerald J. Breen
Class of 1968
President, Alumni Association

Alumni Medals, the highest award of the John Carroll University Alumni Association, are
presented annually to alumni and others who have, through the distinguished conduct of their lives, either
brought extraordinary credit to the university or contributed conscientious service to the Alumni
Association, or both. The recipients of the award this year are:

Raymond E. Smiley
Class of 1951

Ray Smiley is a man who, since he was a boy. has loved 1o be in nature, capturing fish and game with a rod or a gun
or with his vision alone — for more than half a century. he's led birding tours through Cleveland's Metroparks, reeling in the
creatures of the air with his acute eye. He demonstrated that same sharpness of perception in his business career, where he
began as an accountant, and retired as a master of financial analysis and planning. But his real triumph of vision has been in
keeping his eye on the true prize, the family of eight children he raised with Eleanor, his wife of almost 46 years.

Five of those cight children and two of the spouses they married are practicing accountants, which suggests that the
Smiley clan may be moving toward an expansion of the Big Six to the Big Seven. The younger generation has a sterling model
in the Cleveland native who graduated with a degree in accountancy in 1951, Ray Smiley served with Price Waterhouse and
Deloitte & Touche, climbed the career ladder as the CFO of McDowell-Wellman Engineering. became the VP for finance at
Gilford Instrument Laboratories and finally arrived at Bearings. Inc. — now Applied Industrial Technologies — where he was
the financial wizard for one of the nation’s lower profile Fortune 500 corporations,

Ray has been a major force in the Financial Executives Institute at both the national and local levels, and a director
and advisor to several corporations, but also shined with the Light of Hearts Villa, Our Lady of the Wayside. the Benedictine's
St. Andrew’s Abbey and the Cleveland Education Fund. When he was named to be one of the School of Business 50 Finest.
he was quoted as saying, “A Jesuit education provides opportunities to develop leadership. 1t requires a broad base of not only
technical competence but also moral, ethical and social awareness. It demands continuous civie, community and cultural
involvement.”

Ray Smiley has lived those lines, As regards his university, Dean Frank Navratil has said, “Ray bleeds blue and gold.
He would do anything for John Carroll.™ He has been a board member of the university's Private Sector Business Association,
a member of the Business Advisory Council and of our Accountancy Advisory Board. as well as a class agent. Those have
been his official roles. Ray is always there as needed. For that deep faithfulness and for his many ways of serving, the Alumni
Association is pleased to award Ray Smiley our highest honor, the Alumni Medal.

Sister Mary Assumpta, C.C.Sp.
Graduate Class of 1973

During the 1995 World Series. an angry Albert Belle comes into the team clubhouse after one of the Indians’ four
losses and kicks a table, sending a platter of chocolate chip cookies flying. A disturbed Omar Vizquel approaches the slugger
and says, “Albert, do you know who made these cookies? Do you know who she works for?”

Not for the Cleveland Indians, though she is a team symbol so recognizable it sometimes seems she is on pace (0
replace troublesome Chief Wahoo. No, Sister Mary Assumpta Zabas, C.C.Sp. ‘73 M.A.. has been signed to a lifetime con-
tract by someone with more clout than a team owner.

Here's what you can read on the back of the Baseball Nun's baseball card: “Born in Portage, Pennsylvania on
July 20, 1945 as Helen Rachel Zabas. Heavy Hitter for the Sisters of the Holy Spirit since 1962. Also throws pitches
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for Jennings Hall Nursing Home in Garfield Heights, Ohio. Sports feature writer for News Channel 5 in Cleveland.
World Series correspondent for CBS’s This Moming. ...In the last five years, she has baked over 300 dozen cookies
annually for Indians players.”

Cute! The media love the act. The Indians’ jacket and the traditional nun’s habit are an irresistible combo. Whan
the media doesn’t seem 1o get is that the cute nun plays them like Omar plays shortstop. One of the best parts is that the ac
isn'tan act: she loves baseball. It's just that she cleverly exploits it, like the players, to get what she wants.

What she wants are millions of dollars... For the elderly residents of Jennings Hall. She's already gotten millions,
but like those players she wants more, so her community of nine nuns can continue to build the best elderly care facility in
the world, which is more amazing than the Indians taking the Series would be.

Baseball-derived celebrity didn’t directly capture those millions, but it opened doors. Her incomparable sense of fun
and world-class charm and persuasiveness did the rest. All in service to the Beatitudes, all in service to tenderly nourishing
those of us on Heaven's verge, all in service to Christ. She is, indeed, Jennings” fund-raiser and director of pastoral care, which
- at least as she performs those tasks - is like pitching 20 victories and hitting 50 homers,

With her peerless stats in mind, the Alumni Association is pleased 1o award the Alumni Medal 1o an absolute shoo-
in for the Women for Others Hall of Fame.

BENEDICTION

Rev. Mikhail E. Mikhail, D.Min.
Dean, Coptic Orthodox Theological Seminary
Pastor, Saint Mark Coptic Orthodox Church

ALMA MATER
Led by members of the University Chapel Choir
Director, Cynthia Caporella

Hail to Carroll, gather near her,

Let your joyful anthem ring;

Sound vour Mother’s praise, revere her.
Her fair name full proudly sing.

Loyal ever, brave and true,

Daughters, sons of Carroll U,

Pledge our love to Alma Mater,

To the Gold and Blue;

Pledge our love to Alma Mater,

To the Gold and Blue.

RECESSIONAL

Music by Cleveland Lyric Brass

Honorary degree citations written by poet George L. Kanieski, Class of 1989

[20]



Biographies of the Commencement Speaker and
Honorary Degree Recipients

SISTER MARY ROSE McGEADY, D.C. has been president and chief executive officer of Covenant House, the largest
privately-funded child care agency in the United States, since 1990,

Sister Mary Rose was born in Hazelton, PA. and moved with her family to Washington, DC, where she attended ele-
mentary and high school. In 1946, she entered the Daughters of Charity of St. Vincent de Paul.

She received her B.A. in sociology from Emmanuel College in Boston, her M.A. in clinical psychology from Fordham
University in New York, and pursued doctoral studies in the same ficld at Fordham and the University of Massachusetts. Her pro-
fessional career began at Nazareth Child Care Center in Boston, where she spent nine years working with homeless and disturbed
children and their families. She then served as executive director of the Astor Home and Clinic for Children in Rhinebeck, NY, a
treatment center for disturbed children and youth,

In 1971, Sister Mary Rose began her work at Brooklyn Catholic Charities where she undertook a variety of assignments,
including directing the Learning Center for Exceptional Children and establishing the Bushwick Human Service Center. a com-
munity-based crisis and advocacy center.  She became director of mental health services and regional director for Catholic
Charities of the Diocese of Brooklyn. In 1979, she took the position of executive director of the Kennedy Child Study Center in
New York City.

In 1981, Sister Mary Rose became provincial of the Daughters of Charity. responsible for the work of her order in nine
hospitals, seventeen schools, five child care agencies and various other areas for eleven states. She held that position for six years,
at which time she joined Catholic Charities and the Diocese of Brooklyn as its associate executive director. She spent the next
three years with Catholic Charities, directing a network of services in Queens County with a staff of more than 800 and an annu-
al budget of nearly $40 million. Key programs under her administration addressed the needs of the homeless. the mentally ill, dis-
tressed families, youth and the aged.

JOHN F. (JACK) DONAHUE is chairman of Federated Investors, Pennsylvania’s largest investment manggement firm,
He and Rhodora are the parents of thirteen, grandparents of 73, and great-grandparents of two.

Born on the East End of Piusburgh, Jack graduated from Central Catholic High School’s class of 1942, He enlisted in
the U.S. Army Air Corps in March of 1943 and, while serving, received an appointment to the United States Military Academy at
West Point, graduating from that institution in 1946, That same year. Jack and Rhodora Jacob were married.

Jack served as a pilot in the Strategic Air Command until 1950, After leaving the Air Force, he went directly into the
mutual fund industry and. in 1955, together with a Central Catholic classmate, Richard B. Fisher, founded Federated Investors,
Jack remains its chief exccutive officer today.

RHODORA JACOB DONAHUE was born in Pittshurgh, the eldest of eight children. She graduated with a Bachelor
of Science degree from Mt Mercy College (now Carlow College) in 1947,

Without Rhodora. there is no Jack Donahue as we know him. She gave Jack the freedom (o follow his dream. rendered
wise counsel in critical times, provided unstinting support when backing from old friends faded, encouraged him when there
seemed to be no reason to persevere. savored his accomplishments. She has not only been Jack's sweetheart and wife. but his
steadfast partner. gentle critic and best friend, in good times and bad.

For more than 51 years, Rhodora’s life’s work, profession, avocation and absorption has been her family. She has treat-
ed each of her children. grandchildren, and great-grandchildren as if he or she were her first, last and only love, and has been the
ever-present source of solace in sadness and of praise in achievement in the lives of both the young and not-so-young children. As
wife and mother, she has created the bonds of a rich and vibrant family life and has given continuing meaning to the terms “neigh-
bor™ and “community” through volunteer activities cheerfully and unobtrusively rendered 1o the Ladies of Charity, the St. Lucy's
Auxiliary, and the American Heart Association.

Jack, in turn, has shared the family’s good fortune through his beneficence to the Catholic Diocese of Pittsburgh, its
schools and charities. Duquesne University (where he is a trustee), the Gregorian University, and the Vatican. He has been invest-
ed as both a Knight of Malta and a Knight of St. Gregory.

To John Carroll University. the Donahues have been especially generous. They have assisted substantially in the endow-
ing of a Visiting Jesuit Professorship, which annually brings an outstanding Jesuit scholar to the university to serve as a member
of the teaching faculty. For their exemplary service and generosity, the Donahue’s were presented with John Carroll University's
American Values Award in 1992,



EDWARD M. MULDOON *48 is chairman and chief executive officer of Bivar, an electronics component company in
Irvine, CA. He first came to John Carroll University through the Navy V-12 program during World War [, After naval service.
he returned to the campus in 1946 to continue his studies. During the “50s and ‘60s, he worked for a Cleveland electronics com-
pany and began a scholarship at JCU to benefit his employees and their children.

Before moving to the west coast, he served three years as JCU's alumni fundraising chairman and two years as
Alumni Association vice-president. In 1967, he bought Bivar, a manufacturer of hardware used in the assembly of electronic
circuit boards.

Returning to campus the summer of 1992 for the first time in nearly 15 years, Ed was impressed with the changes he saw
and sought out the Development Office to explain how he would like to help. While at Carroll, Ed had Rev. Frederick E. (Fritz)
Welfle, then president of the university, as his history professor. He later told university officials that he admired Father Welfle,
calling him a humble man and a wonderful teacher who had a unique way of working with students. Ed explained that he had $50
a month from the G.1. bill when he went through school, so he worked 30 hours a week to help pay the tuition and room and board.
By taking day. evening and summer classes, he received his last three years of academic credits in 22 months and graduated with
a B.S. degree with a dual major in mathematics and physics. So, when he discussed helping the university, the idea of assisting
students and of recognizing Father Frederick E. (Fritz) Wellle was the perfect combination. He donated $2-million to establish
the Father Welfle Scholarship to benefit students “who have little in the way of family help or resources to call upon.”

THE MOST REVEREND JOHN M. SMITH, J.C.D., D.D. was born on June 23, 1935 in Orange, NJ, the eldest son
of Mrs. Ethel Charnock Smith of Totowa, NJ, and the late Mr. Mortimer F, Smith. Bishop Smith attended St. John's Parochial
Elementary School in Orange and St. Benedict's Preparatory School in Newark, He then attended John Carroll University, and
began studies for the priesthood at Immaculate Conception Seminary, Darlington. Bishop Smith received a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Classical Languages from Seton Hall University and a Bachelor's degree in Sacred Theology from the Catholic
University of America. He was ordained a priestin 1961 and was appointed to the Chancery Office of the Archdiocese of Newark.
He was later assigned to graduate studies at Catholic University of America, where he received a Doctorate in Canon Law in 1966.

Bishop Smith served as assistant chancellor of the Archdiocese of Newark, defender of the bond in the Archdiocesan
Matrimonial Tribunal, and archdiocesan coordinator of the English Cursillo Movement. He has been a visiting professor in pas-
toral theology at Immaculate Conception Seminary, Darlington. Pope Paul VI named him a Papal Chamberlain with the title of
Monsignor in 1971, In 1973, he was appointed to the first team ministry at St. Joseph’s Church where he served as a parish priest
until 1982, at which time he was appointed to the faculty of the Pontifical North American College in Rome as director of the
Institute for Continuing Theological Education and program director of the United States Bishops’ Consultation V.

After his return from Rome, Bishop Smith was appointed pastor of St. Mary’s Parish in Dumont. Shortly thereafter, he
was appointed chairman of the Archdiocesan Vocation Board and, later that same year, vicar general and moderator of the Curia.
He became auxiliary bishop of Newark in 1987, and was ordained a bishop in 1988,

In 1991, Bishop Smith was appointed bishop of Pensacola, FL. by Pope John Paul II, and was installed on July 31 of that
year, He was named coadjutor bishop of Trenton in 1995, and was formally welcomed into the diocese on February 22, 1996.

Since becoming a bishop in 1987, Bishop Smith has served on the National Council of Catholic Bishops (NCCB)
Committee on Nominations, and the United States Catholic Conference (USCC) Communications Commitiee. He has also served
on the board of directors of the North American College in Rome and the NCCB Committee on Migration and Refugee Services.
He is currently a member of the board of directors of Catholic Relief Services and the NCCB Committee on Marriage and Family.
In 1997, he became the ninth bishop of Trenton when he succeeded Bishop John C. Reiss.



THE UNIVERSITY MACE

When universities and parliaments about the world gather together in solemn assembly, the way is often led by a mace
bearer carrying an ornamental short staff that is the symbol of the authority of the gathering body. The symbol’s early predeces-
sor was the Roman fasces, a bundle of rods bound together and carried in front of magistrates: crowds in the streets seeing the
Jasces would give way to the magistrate’s authority. The medieval mace was originally a blunt weapon favored by clergy who
were forbidden to use the sword. It also evolved into a symbol of authority: crowds quickly made way for anyone carrying such
a symbol.

The design at the top of the University Mace derives from the coats of arms on the university seal, emblems of Ignatius
Loyola, founder of the Jesuits. Surmounted by a cross. two bronze wolves on either side of a brass cauldron stand for the Loyolas.
The Onaz clan, his maternal side, is signified by fourteen alternating red and gold bands of enamelled copper. set at an angle around
the head of the mace. Beneath is the inscription in Latin: John Carroll University 1886. From the cross at the top to the horn but-
ton at the base the mace is 46 inches tall; it weighs 100 ounces. The main shaft of the mace is ebony in the form of a fasces of
fourteen rods, with a slight tapering at either end. The bindings of the rods, and the head and base of the mace are all silver. A
node on the base is engraved with the episcopal seal of Archbishop John Carroll, the first bishop of the United States and the
eponym of the university. It depicts the Blessed Virgin with scepter and crown holding the Christ Child: thirteen stars for the thir-
teen states are around them. the crossed keys of St. Peter beneath, and the inscription in Latin: John, Bishop of Baltimore 1790,
Inside the base is a copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the University. its charter, granted by the State of Ohio in 1890 in time
to authorize the university’s first degrees.

The University mace was crafted for John Carroll by the late Solve Halgvist. a well known local silversmith, as his last
commission; it was designed by Fr. Peter Fennessy, S.J., university marshal, and Dr. Roger Welchans. retired professor of Art
History. The University Mace was a gift of the Executive Board of the John Carroll Alumni Association; it was given in memo-
ry of Fr. Michael J. Lavelle, S.J.. twenty-first president of the university (1934-1995).

THE TRADITION OF ACADEMIC COSTUME

One of the more striking aspects of academic ceremonies is the colorful dress of the participants. An understanding of
the traditions determining style and color of costumes can enrich one’s attendance at such events. The distinctive academic dress
has its origin in the universities of the middle ages where cold buildings and tonsured heads made warm gowns and protective
hoods a matter of necessity. Individual institutions such as Cambridge and Oxford adopted special rules governing the Kind of
dress that was to be permitted, and the custom was repeated throughout Europe. It is for this reason that some of the most eye-
catching gowns are those mandated by European schools.

In America, the practice has been somewhat less venturesome. Although the custom of wearing distinctive attire had
existed since the time of the colonial colleges. present usage seems to date from a conference held at Columbia in 1895. From
that meeting came a resolution calling for the regulation by code of what was generally to be worn at academic events. That code.
revised in 1932 and again in 1960, makes recommendations as to the pattern. material. color and trimmings to be used on acade-
mic gowns.

The bachelor’s gown, with long pointed sleeve, is worn closed. The master’s gowns, which can be worn open, have a
distinct oblong sleeve with an arc cut in the front. Doctors wear the bell shaped sleeved robes which are marked with velvet fac-
ing in front and velvet bars on the sleeve. Although these gowns are all ordinarily black, in recent years there have been excep-
tions made in color.

Hoods for the various degrees differ in length. Bachelors wear three foot hoods; Masters, three and a half; and Doctors,
four feet. They are bound by velvet or velveteen in colors which designate the wearer’s area of specialization, and they are lined
with the colors of the institution granting the degree. At John Carroll, the lining is blue and gold. Many institutions, however,
have dispensed entirely with the bachelors” hoods.  The colors associated with the more common academic disciplines are:
white for Arts and Letters; drab for Business: light blue for Education: purple for Law: dark blue for Philosophy: golden yellow
for Science; and scarlet for Theology.

The cap traditionally worn is the black mortar board, although the tam and the Elizabethan will be seen on some of the
faculty. The tassel is most often black, Doctors frequently wear gold. and lawyers wear purple.
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Immediately following the exercises, all are welcome to refreshments
in the tents on Millor and Sutowski lawns and Keller Commons.

Millor Tent. All Humanities and Social Sciences, including the following majors/programs:

Art History German Political Science
Classical Languages History Religious Studies
Communications Humanities Sociology
English Philosophy Spanish

French

Sutowski Tent. All Business, including the following majors/programs:

Accounting Finance Master of Business
Business Logistics Management Administration
Economics Marketing

Keller Commons Tent. All Sciences and Education, including the following majors/programs:

Biology Education & Allied Studies Physics
Chemistry Engineering Physics Psychology
Computer Science Mathematics Teaching Mathematics
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DIPLOMA TRANSLATION

o Ry

The Trustees of John Carroll University

TO ALL WHO WILL READ WHAT IS WRITTEN HERE

Greetings in the Lord

By this document we being authorized thereto by the supreme
authority of the State testify that our esteemed

having been duly approved has been promoted to the rank of I
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and has been granted all the rights and privileges pertaining thereunto.
That this may be known to all we have awarded this degree attested by our
common seal and the signature of the President of this University,
on this seventeenth day of May in the year of our Lord 1998.
———— ="_i

Beneath the heading of the diploma is the Jesuit symbol.
The inscription IHS are the first three letters in Greek of the name Jesus (iota eta sigma).
The design incorporates a cross and three nails surrounded by rays.
The translation of the circular Latin inscription is:

“In this one name alone is there certain salvation™



